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Automatic Stay Violation Issues 

Overview and the boilerplate:  Hayes 

• 362(a) is specific as to what it stops. 

• 362(b) has 28 exceptions. 

o The 9th Circuit has added “actions for civil contempt”  See Dingley 

• 362(k) provides for a violation of the automatic stay  

o 362(k) is individuals only 

o actual damages, punitive if willful and attorneys fees. 

o Innocence, factually or legally, is not a defense – see Ozenne 

•  

 

Process to get to the violation in front of the court 

• Motion for Sanctions? Or 

• OSC re contempt? 

LBR 9020-1. ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE BY APPEARING AND FILING 

WRITTEN EXPLANATION WHY PARTY SHOULD NOT BE HELD IN 

CONTEMPT 

(a) General. Unless otherwise ordered by the court, contempt proceedings are 

initiated by filing a motion that conforms with LBR 9013-1 and a lodged order to 

show cause.  Cause must be shown by filing a written explanation why the party 

should not be held in contempt and by appearing at the hearing. 

 

• Adversary required to get damages? 

• Prove up all damages in contempt process?  If you don't, are damages waived? 

Damages 

• actual damages required 

• punitive damages 

• attorneys fees 

• Sunquist 

Getting paid - contingency fees? 
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Dingley v. Yellow Logistics, LLC (In re Dingley), 852 F.3d 1143, (9th Cir. 

April, 2017)  

 

Issue:   Is the continuation of prepetition litigation efforts to collect sanctions a violation 

of the automatic stay on the facts here? 

Holding:   No.  "We hold that under In re Berg, 230 F.3d 1165 (9th Cir. 2000), civil 

contempt proceedings are exempted from the automatic stay under the Bankruptcy 

Code’s government regulatory exemption, 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4), when, as here, the 

contempt proceedings are intended to effectuate the court’s public policy interest in 

deterring litigation misconduct."     

Appeal from BAP, Kirscher, Jury, Taylor  

Judge Clifton 

The chapter 7 debtor here was engaged in prepetition litigation with the creditor.  The 

debtor did not appear for a deposition and the state court sanctioned him $4,000 which he 

did not pay.  The court issued an OSC re contempt and the debtor responded by filing 

chapter 7 petition.  The creditor argued to the state court that the stay did not stop the 

contempt proceeding.  The debtor responded by asking the bankruptcy court to sanction 

the creditor for violating the automatic stay.  The bankruptcy court agreed and sanctioned 

the creditor $1,500.  The BAP reversed saying that "under [9th Circuit] decision in 

Hooker, civil contempt proceedings are exempted from the automatic stay unless the 

proceedings turn on the determination or collection of an underlying debt or are a ploy to 

harass the debtor."  Because the sanctions were "intended to sanction him for litigation 

misconduct, the automatic stay did not apply." 

The 9th Circuit affirmed but on a different basis.  It found that this was a proceeding 

under the "government regulatory exemption, 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4)."  "In our circuit, 

courts have applied two alternative tests when determining whether government action 

falls under the government regulatory exemption: the pecuniary purpose test and the 

public policy test."  If "the government’s action is intended either to protect the 

government’s pecuniary interest in the debtor’s property or to adjudicate private rights, 

the government regulatory exemption will not apply and the automatic stay will be 

imposed."   

The court said,  
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Civil contempt proceedings are exempted from the automatic stay under the 

government regulatory exemption when the proceedings are intended to 

effectuate the court’s public policy interest in deterring litigation misconduct. 

Here, Yellow pursued the collection of civil contempt sanctions against Dingley 

to effectuate the Nevada state court’s public policy interest in deterring litigants 

from violating court orders imposing sanctions for litigation misconduct. 

 

Ozenne v. Bendon (In re Ozenne), 337 B.R. 214 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 2006) 
 

Issue: Is a good faith belief that certain actions do not violate the automatic stay 

sufficient to deny sanctions for willful violation of the stay?  Is reliance on state law 

which is unclear sufficient to deny sanctions for violation of the stay?       

Holding:  No and No.  In both situations, the violation is still willful.   

Trial Judge Meredith Jury 

BAP   Brandt, Montali, Haines 

Opinion by Brandt 

The debtor filed a chapter 7 case to stop a foreclosure sale on property he had in a storage 

unit.  The storage company, Dollar Self Storage, conducted the sale the next day anyway.  

The debtor moved for an order declaring the sale to be void, staying resale of the 

property, and requested sanctions for violation of the stay.  Dollar defended saying that 

the property was not property of the estate because, under state law, it had been 

abandoned prepetition and therefore the stay did not apply.  Judge Jury ruled that the stay 

was violated because of the debtor’s reclamation rights but that the violation was not 

willful because the law is murky re abandonment under state law.  She denied the request 

for sanctions and stated that “appropriate remedy is to find a mechanism by which the net 

proceeds from the sale are returned to essentially (the debtor) or the trustee.”  The debtor 

appealed.  

The BAP reversed.  Analyzing California law it said “CCC §§ 1980-1991 unambiguously 

preserve the (now former) tenant’s ownership interest by providing an exclusive right to 

cure and claim the personal property at any time up to the sale.  Thus, when Ozenne filed 

his bankruptcy petition, the Property was his, and became property of the estate.”  

Therefore Judge Jury was correct that the stay was violated.   
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As to whether the violation was willful, “[T]he ‘willfulness test’ for automatic stay 

violations merely requires that: (1) the creditor know of the automatic stay; and (2) the 

actions that violate the stay be intentional.” In re Peralta, 317 B.R. 381, 389 (9th Cir. 

BAP 2004)”  Dollar admitted it knew of the bankruptcy before it conducted the sale.  The 

BAP stated, “Likewise, whether Dollar believed in good faith that it had a right to the 

Property is irrelevant: “No specific intent is required; a good faith belief that the stay is 

not being violated ‘is not relevant to whether the act was “willful” or whether 

compensation must be awarded[,]’” . . . “nor is good faith reliance on the advice of 

counsel a defense” . . . “nor is reliance on a state court’s determination.”  The BAP said 

that Dollar had a “cavalier attitude” especially when it did not seek later to the annul the 

stay.  Its actions in violating the stay were willful.  The BAP remanded to Judge Jury to 

determine the appropriate sanctions.   

 

America's Servicing Company v. Schwartz-Tallard (In re Schwartz-Tallard),  

803 F. 3d 1095 (9th Cir. October 2015)  

 

Issue:   Does section 362(k) "authorize[] an award of all attorney’s fees reasonably 

incurred to remedy a stay violation, including fees incurred in prosecuting the damages 

action"?  "Did Congress intend to authorize recovery of attorney’s fees incurred in 

litigation for one purpose (ending the stay violation) but not for another (recovering 

damages)?"  

Holding:   Yes to the first question, no to the second.  "We see nothing in the statute that 

suggests Congress intended to cleave litigation-related fees into two categories, one 

recoverable by the debtor, the other not."       

Appeal from the BAP (Kirscher Pappas Dunn) 

Judge Paul Watford, for en banc court.  Judge Bea concurring with O'Scannlain joining 

and Judge Ikuta dissenting.   

Here the creditor conducted a foreclosure sale in violation of the automatic stay.  The 

debtor filed a motion for contempt seeking sanctions.  The bankruptcy court agreed and 

awarded sanctions.  "The court also awarded Schwartz-Tallard $40,000 in economic and 

emotional distress damages, $20,000 in punitive damages, and $20,000 in attorney’s 

fees."  The creditor transferred the property back to the debtor and appealed the 

bankruptcy court's order, only as to the damages awarded.  The district court affirmed 
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but remanded asking for a recalculation of the amount awarded.  The debtor then moved 

for additional fees, "roughly $10,000" spent defending the appeal.  The bankruptcy court 

denied the request for additional fees based on Sternberg.  The debtor then appealed that 

to the BAP.  The BAP reversed and awarded the additional fees.  The creditor appealed to 

the 9th Circuit.   

The 9th Circuit affirmed the BAP's award of additional fees, 2-1.  Subsequently the 9th 

Circuit voted to rehear the matter en banc.  The 9th Circuit here again affirmed the BAP 

specifically overruling Sternberg v. Johnson.     

"We find it unnecessary to resolve the issue that divided the three-judge panel. Rather 

than decide whether Sternberg’s holding extends to the facts of this case, we think the 

better course is to jettison Sternberg’s erroneous interpretation of § 362(k) altogether."  

"Although the 'American Rule' usually requires parties to bear their own attorney’s fees, a 

common-law exception to the rule permits fee awards in litigation brought to remedy 

willful violations of court orders. Fleischmann Distilling Corp. v. Maier Brewing Co., 

386 U.S. 714, 717–18 (1967).  Perhaps to eliminate any doubt about the source of a 

court’s authority to remedy violations of the automatic stay, Congress enacted § 362(h) in 

1984."  "It seems evident . . . that Congress sought to encourage injured debtors to bring 

suit to vindicate their statutory right to the automatic stay’s protection, one of the most 

important rights afforded to debtors by the Bankruptcy Code."  The opinion comments 

that the Sternberg reading requires the court to separately analyze how much of the fees 

were incurred stopping the violation and how much in chasing damages.  The court 

should not assume Congress intended to multiply the litigation issues.   

The concurring opinion stated simply that the language is unambiguous and therefore the 

opinion should end there.   

The sole dissenter, Judge Ikuta, argued that the statute is ambiguous as to "actual 

damages" and that Sternberg got it right  She says the pragmatic concerns should not be 

part of the analysis.    

 

Sundquist v. Bank of America (In re Sundquist) 566 B.R. 563, 14-02278 CN 

(Bkrtcy, E. D. Cal. May, 2017) Klein, J.     

Issue:   Given that Bank of America violated the automatic 

stay, what is the proper amount of damages under section 
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362(k)?                       

Holding:   Actual damages of $1,074,000 plus $5 million of punitive damages, further 

punitive damages awarded of $40 million payable to two consumer organizations and 

five law schools.             

Judge Christopher Klein 

The debtors here had attempted unsuccessfully prepetition to do loan mods with Bank of 

America.  They finally filed chapter 13 to stop the foreclosure sale.  Notwithstanding that 

it had notice, the bank conducted the foreclosure sale the next day anyway.  "Bank of 

America committed at least six further automatic stay violations by the end of August 

2010 as it bulled forward."  This included bringing an unlawful detainer.  About the same 

time, a different department of the bank recognized the error and notified the foreclosure 

company.  But upon receiving the three day notice, the debtors panicked and immediately 

moved.  "Although Bank of America knew on August 20, 2010, and beyond cavil by 

September 7, 2010, that the foreclosure would be rescinded, it did not withdraw the 

unlawful detainer action or tell the Sundquists the action would be dismissed."  Six 

months later, the bank finally rescinded the foreclosure sale but did not tell the debtors 

nor their counsel.  The debtors learned about the rescission a month or two later and 

asked for the keys back.  The bank gave them the keys.  When they moved back into the 

property, the tress were dead, appliances gone, the place was ransacked, and the HOA 

had assessed a $20,000 penalty for not taking care of the place.  The bank not only 

refused to pay for the damages but demanded that the debtors pay the mortgage for the 

time when it owned the property.   

The debtors finally sued the bank in state court.  The state court eventually said that the 

violation of the stay claims had to be litigated in federal court.  So the debtors filed an 

action in federal court which was then referred to the bankruptcy court.   During the 

litigation, the debtors complained to the federal Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.  

"The Bank of America response to CFPB is noteworthy for two false statements made by 

the Office of the Bank of America CEO and President.  It falsely asserts that there was no 

foreclosure of the Sundquist residence.  And, it falsely asserts that the Sundquists are not 

in active litigation with Bank of America.  Both statements were materially false." 

Judge Klein then walked through the types of damages available for violation of the 

automatic stay.  "Actual damages under § 362(k)(1) include both physical damages and 

economic damages."  "Emotional distress damages are also commonly the subject of 
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awards of actual damages."  "Attorneys' fees and costs are a mandatory component of the 

§ 362(k)(1) remedy."  Punitive damages are awarded in "appropriate circumstances."  He 

writes that the "thin-skull" doctrine works.   

Judge Klein then walked through the evidence he received.  He found "Renée Sundquist 

to be an exceptionally credible witness.  She displayed considerable courage in revealing 

her very private journal and exposing herself to cross-examination and public exposure of 

her all-too-human traits."  Note: there are many references in the footnotes to her diary.  

He also commented that the debtor's attorney could have done a better job establishing 

the specifics of the damages.   

Finally, he made very painstaking efforts to compute the damages for each of many 

different aspects of the actual damages.  For example, he awarded $401,511 for lost 

income of wife, $91,351 for lost income of husband, $24,000 for lost property, $83,200 

for alternate housing, $24,000 for the HOA damages, and $62,268 for attorneys fees.  He 

awarded $300,000 of emotional distress damages.  Total actual damages were 

$1,074,000. 

For punitive damages Judge Klein said, "To award punitive damages measured by a 

conventional multiplier of three to six times of the Sundquist compensatory damages 

would be laughed off in Bank of America's boardroom as a mere 'cost of doing business' 

payable out of the petty cash account." 

He noted however that punitive damages should not result generally in a huge windfall to 

the plaintiffs.  "To let a defendant escape well-deserved punitive damages that are needed 

to vindicate the societal interests served by the law authorizing the award merely because 

a plaintiff would be receiving too much money is not a satisfactory answer."  "A solution 

based on common sense is to direct to a public purpose the portion of legitimate punitive 

damages that exceed what private victims ought to be allowed to retain — the societal 

interest component of punitive damages."  "It is noteworthy that the language of the 

statute does not prohibit a court from putting strings on what may be done with a portion 

of the amount awarded." 

So Judge Klein awarded $45 million in punitive damages.  He permitted the debtors to 

keep $5 million but ordered them to give the rest (after taxes) to seven different entities 

including five local California law schools.  He dictated that if Bank of America were to 

donate $30 million to the same organizations, he would limit the punitive damages to $5 

million paid to the debtors.  Two additional comments re punitive damages are worth 
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note.  He ordered the funds to "be used [by the corporate recipients] only for education in 

consumer law and delivery of legal services in matters of consumer law."  He also 

commented, "It is the intention of this court that the six designated entities shall have 

standing to participate in requests for post-trial relief in this court and to participate in 

any appeal from the judgment in this adversary proceeding." 

 

Finally, Judge Klein declared the debtors' mortgage "reinstated" and fixed the amount 

owing.  He then said  

"Bank of America will be enjoined from requiring payments from the Sundquists 

(who may make voluntary payments), and enjoined from declaring a default, 

until 60 days after Bank of America pays the Sundquists the full amount of the 

actual and punitive damages here awarded."  

 

DISCHARGE INJUNCTION ISSUES 

Overview and the boilerplate:  Hayes 

• section 524 is 5,958 words! 

• 524 (a) is specific as to what it stops. 

• 524(a) says a discharge under this chapter  

o (2) "operates as an injunction against the commencement or continuation of 

an action, the employment of process, or an act, to collect, recover or offset 

any such debt as a personal liability of the debtor, whether or not discharge 

of such debt is waived; and 

o (3) operates as an injunction (re community property) 

• 524 (i) "The willful failure of a creditor to credit payments received under a plan 

confirmed under this title, unless the order confirming the plan is revoked, the plan 

is in default, or the creditor has not received payments required to be made under 

the plan in the manner required by the plan (including crediting the amounts 

required under the plan), shall constitute a violation of an injunction under 

subsection (a)(2) if the act of the creditor to collect and failure to credit payments 

in the manner required by the plan caused material injury to the debtor." 

• 524(j) "Subsection (a)(2) does not operate as an injunction against an act by a 

creditor that is the holder of a secured claim, if— 

•  (1) such creditor retains a security interest in real property that is the 

principal residence of the debtor; 
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•  (2) such act is in the ordinary course of business between the creditor and 

the debtor; and 

•  (3) such act is limited to seeking or obtaining periodic payments associated 

with a valid security interest in lieu of pursuit of in rem relief to enforce the 

lien."  

•  

 

Process to get to the violation in front of the court 

• OSC re contempt required - see Barrientos 

LBR 9020-1. ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE BY APPEARING AND FILING 

WRITTEN EXPLANATION WHY PARTY SHOULD NOT BE HELD IN 

CONTEMPT 

(a) General. Unless otherwise ordered by the court, contempt proceedings are 

initiated by filing a motion that conforms with LBR 9013-1 and a lodged order to 

show cause.  Cause must be shown by filing a written explanation why the party 

should not be held in contempt and by appearing at the hearing. 

 

• Adversary required to get damages? 

• Prove up all damages in contempt process?  If you don't, are damages waived? 

 

Creditors rights when debtor "returns to the fray" 

• Ybarra 

Is creditors good faith belief that the discharge does not apply a defense? 

• Taggart 

Damages 

• actual damages required? 

• punitive damages?  limited? 

• attorneys fees 

• Marino 
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Barrientos v. Wells Fargo Bank (In re Barrientos), 633 F.3d 1186 (9th Cir. 

2011) 

 

Issue:   When a creditor violates the discharge injunction, it is appropriate for the debtor 

to seek redress by filing a complaint beginning an adversary proceeding? 

Holding:   No, redress must be sought by motion pursuant to FRBP 9020. 

Appeal from District Court 

 

Judge Robert C. Jones, 

 

The debtor filed chapter 7 and received a discharge.  Thereafter he discovered that a 

credit reporting agency “continued to report [debtor’s] previous debt to Wells Fargo 

Bank, N.A. When [the debtor] disputed the debt, one or more of the agencies contacted 

[WFB], who allegedly verified a debt of $80,831 in violation of § 524.”  The debtor filed 

a complaint with the bankruptcy court with “a single cause of action for contempt for 

violation of § 524, seeking an injunction, a ‘coercive fine,’ declaratory relief, and 

attorney’s fees.”  WFB filed a motion to dismiss “which the bankruptcy court granted . . . 

ruling that . . . § 105 creates no private right of action to sue for a violation of§ 524. The 

district court affirmed . . . and noted that [the debtor’s] remedy was to seek a contempt 

order directly in the bankruptcy court.” 

The 9th Circuit affirmed.  “We have previously ruled after significant discussion that the 

availability of contempt proceedings under §105 for violation of a discharge injunction 

under §524 does not create a private right of action for damages.”  Also, “it appears that 

the Bankruptcy Rules require that an action for contempt arising out of the violation of an 

order issued in a bankruptcy case must be brought by motion in the bankruptcy case.”  

“Bankruptcy Rule 9020 provides that Bankruptcy Rule 9014 governs contempt 

proceedings in bankruptcy. Fed. R.Bankr. P. 9020 (‘Rule 9014 governs a motion for an 

order of contempt made by the United States trustee or a party in interest.’).Bankruptcy 

Rule 9014 in turn is the rule that governs contested matters. In otherwords, a contempt 

proceeding by the United States trustee or a party in interest in bankruptcy is a contested 

matter.”  Rule 7001 does not apply because although the debtor is seeking an injunction, 

it is only for an order that he already has.  Also, the debtor has asked for damages 

therefore it is not an action for equitable relief.   
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Ocwen Loan Servicing LLC v. Marino (In re Marino), --- B.R. --- (9th Cir. 

BAP December 2017)  

 

Issue:   Did the bank violate the discharge injunction by sending the debtors post-

discharge letters even though the letters said it was not trying to collect a debt? 

 

Holding:   Yes.  "Ocwen’s communications went far beyond what was necessary to 

protect or enforce Ocwen’s lien rights and ... they also were meant to induce the Marinos 

to make payments post-discharge."           

Judge Bruce Beesley, District of Nevada 

Faris, Laferty, Tighe 

Opinion by Robert Faris 

 

The debtors filed a chapter 7 and indicated in their schedules that they intended to 

surrender their home to the bank.  They had moved out of the property prepetition.  The 

bank sought and obtained relief from stay to foreclose.  After the debtors received their 

discharge,  

"Ocwen, ...began sending the Marinos mailed correspondence .... The letters 

included account statements, notices regarding force-placed insurance, escrow 

statements, and other matters. 

 

Some of the items of correspondence contained disclaimers that were located at 

the bottom of a page or end of the letter in small font.  A typical disclaimer read: 

'If you have filed for bankruptcy and your case is still active and/or if you 

received a discharge, please be advised that this notice is for information 

purposes only and is not an attempt to collect a pre-petition or discharged debt.'  

Often, the disclaimers were preceded by demands for payment by a certain date 

or information about the amount that 'you must pay' in a much more conspicuous 

font.  

Ocwen also called the Marinos numerous times post-discharge to request 

payment on their mortgage loan." 
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The debtors asked the bankruptcy court to hold Ocwen in contempt for violation of the 

discharge injunction.  They identified 22 "instances of allegedly improper 

correspondence" and testified that they received perhaps 100 phone calls.  Ocwen argued 

that "the letters were not meant to collect any debt against the Marinos personally and 

complied with federal and state law."  The debtors testified that the letters and calls gave 

them "anxiety attacks and [they] felt humiliated, tormented, and harassed."  They 

contemplated divorce.  The bankruptcy court found the disclaimer "ineffective" and 

awarded sanctions of $119,000 being $1,000 for each of 19 letters and the 100 phone 

calls.  The bankruptcy denied the request for punitive damages saying that the law does 

not authorize punitive damages.  The bank appealed of course and the debtors cross-

appealed on the punitive damages.   

The BAP affirmed.  To establish a violation of the discharge injunction, “the movant 

must prove that the creditor (1) knew the discharge injunction was applicable and (2) 

intended the actions which violated the injunction.”    "We agree with the bankruptcy 

court that Ocwen’s communications went far beyond what was necessary to protect or 

enforce Ocwen’s lien rights and that they also were meant to induce the Marinos to make 

payments post-discharge."  "[T]he cumulative effect of all of the letters demanding 

money created the perception that the Marinos needed to pay Ocwen."  

As to the amount of the damages, the BAP said there was no clear error, even though (it 

seems to me), the evidence of the number of calls and the emotional distress was kind of 

skimpy.  

As to the debtors' appeal on the punitive damages, the BAP reversed and remanded.  "The 

Ninth Circuit has authorized 'noncompensatory fines,' which are simply punitive damages 

by another name.  However labeled, any such award must be 'relatively mild.'” 

 

Note:  After the ruling here, debtor's counsel filed a motion for attorneys fees against 

Ocwen of some $33,000 which was granted.  When Ocwen didn't pay, the attorney filed a 

motion for contempt and the court awarded an additional $8,000 - $500 per day for some 

number of days.   Ocwen posted a bond of $120,000.  As of December 29, 2017, there is 

no appeal to the 9th.  

Note (2):  The debtor here also filed a class action suit in district court against Ocwen 

alleging violation of the Telephone Consumer Privacy Act (“TCPA”).  Ocwen moved to 

dismiss on the basis that the bankruptcy court's ruling was of res judicata.  The district 

court denied that motion.  Marino v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 2017 WL 3671294 

(USDC, D. Nevada 2017), Christopher P. Burke for the debtors.  
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Boeing North American v. Ybarra (In re Ybarra), 424 F. 3d 1018 (9th Cir. 

2005) 

Issue:  Is an award of attorney’s fees against a debtor discharged where the award is 

entered post-discharge but for litigation commenced prepetition and actively litigated 

postpetition?        

Holding:    No, not when the debtor “actively returns to the fray.”   

Trial Judge Robin Riblet 

Appeal from BAP  Perris, Klein, Baum 

Judge Richard Paez:   

In 1988, the debtor sued her employer Boeing.  She filed chapter 11 in 1991.  She did not 

disclose the action and when Boeing found out in 1993, it moved to convert her case to 

chapter 7 which was granted.  The trustee then settled with Boeing for $17,500 to which 

the debtor objected.  Thereafter the state court dismissed the state court action.  Ybarra 

then amended her schedules to claim the $17,500 exempt to which the trustee objected.  

Judge Riblet denied the exemption and the BAP reversed.  On remand, Judge Riblet told 

the debtor she could have the $17,500 as a full satisfaction and release or she could have 

the state court action.  She elected to “take ownership of all right, title and interest in the 

lawsuit.”  She then persuaded the state court to vacate the dismissal but summary 

judgment was ultimately entered against her.  Boeing than asked the state court for 

$458,000 in fees.  Meanwhile, the discharge had been entered.   

Boeing then moved Judge Riblet for an order permitting them to enforce the fees award.  

Judge Riblet ruled that the post-filing portion of the fees of $159,000 where not 

discharged. see Siegel v. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp., 143 F.3d 525 (9th Cir. 

1998)  The BAP reversed 2-1 saying the entire debt was discharged relying on 

Abercrombie v. Hayden Corp. (In re Abercrombie), 139 F.3d 755 (9th Cir. 1998), and 

Kadjevich v. Kadjevich (In re Kadjevich), 220 F.3d 1016 (9th Cir. 2000), “both of which 

held that claims for postpetition attorney fees could not be granted administrative expense 

priority in the distribution of bankruptcy assets” and therefore were discharged.  The 

BAP ignored Siegel saying that that was a suit filed post-petition and therefore all rights 

to fees were discharged.   

The 9th Circuit reversed the BAP and said that all of the fees awarded were not 

discharged.   The 9th Circuit said that Abercrombie and Kadjevich were inappropriate 
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because they involved whether or not there fees are an administrative expense, not 

whether or not the fees are discharged.   

So when did the claim arise?  The 9th Circuit said: “We reasoned (in Siegel) that because, 

after being “freed from the untoward effects of the contracts he had entered into” through 

the discharge, Siegel voluntarily chose to “return to the fray and to use the contract as a 

weapon,” it was “perfectly just, and within the purposes of bankruptcy, to allow the same 

weapon to be used against him.””  Ybarra returned to the fray.   

 

Emmert v. Taggart (In re Taggart), 548 B.R. 275  (9th Cir. BAP April 2016)  

 

Issue:   Did the creditor here violate the discharge injunction when it asked for post 

discharge fees in state court against the debtor?       

Holding:   No.          

Judge Randall Dunn, Oregon  

Jury, Kirscher, Faris 

Opinion by Jury 

The creditor here sued the debtor prepetition seeking damages and injunctive relief.  The 

debtor filed chapter 7 and received a discharge.  The creditor then continued the state 

court action and went to trial.  The creditor advised the state court that it was not seeking 

damages from the debtor any longer.  The debtor did not participate in the trial (at least 

very much).  The creditor won and asked for attorneys fees against the debtor for the 

litigation activities after the discharge was entered.  The creditor explained that it knew 

about the discharge injunction but argued in state court that the debtor had "returned to 

the fray" and thus it was entitled to attorneys fees.  The state court agreed and awarded 

fees.  The debtor re-opened the bankruptcy case and asked the court there to find the 

creditor in contempt.  The bankruptcy court ruled that the state court was right (or not 

clearly erroneous) and denied the request.  The debtor appealed the bankruptcy court 

decision and the district court reversed saying the debtor did not return to the fray.  The 

bankruptcy court then found the creditor in contempt and awarded some $100,000 in 

damages.  "[T]he bankruptcy court found that [the] test did not allow the court to 

consider [creditor's] subjective beliefs, good faith or otherwise, regarding whether, as a 
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legal matter, the discharge applied to the proceedings.  As a result, the court concluded 

that the test for actual knowledge was akin to a strict liability test." 

The BAP reversed.  “[T]he [debtor] must prove that the creditor (1) knew the discharge 

injunction was applicable and (2) intended the actions which violated the injunction.”  "In 

Zilog, the Ninth Circuit provided further guidance on the 'actual knowledge' requirement 

under the first prong of the test.  First, the court made clear that whether a party has 

actual knowledge of the injunction is a fact-based inquiry and must be found; it can 

neither be presumed nor imputed.  Second, the Ninth Circuit further explained there must 

be evidence showing that the alleged contemnor was aware of the discharge injunction 

and that it was applicable to his or her claim."  "In connection with the second prong’s 

intent requirement, we have previously observed that 'the bankruptcy court’s focus is not 

on the offending party’s subjective beliefs or intent, but on whether the party’s conduct in 

fact complied with the order at issue.'” 

"This is not a case where Appellants knew of the discharge injunction and 

continued to press their attorneys’ fee claim in the state court under the 

assumption that the discharge injunction did not apply to them. Rather, all along 

the way, they sought a judicial determination that the discharge injunction did not 

apply.  We fail to see how the Zilog standard for actual knowledge is met under 

these facts.  In the end, there is no clear and convincing evidence in the record that 

shows Appellants had actual knowledge that the discharge injunction applied to 

their post-discharge fee request in the state court.  The facts actually suggest the 

opposite. 

Note:  It seems to me that the BAP could have simply said that the request for a court 

determination of whether the discharge injunction applied, which is what happened here 

in effect (which the BAP acknowledged), is not a violation of the discharge injunction.  

The BAP struggles with the concept that although there is no strict liability for the 

violation, there is also no defense of "subjective knowledge."  In other words, it is still 

not a defense to say that "I didn't know I was violating the injunction."   If you don't 

know, ask before you proceed.  And that is what the creditor did here.    

Further note:  I believe that strict liability does apply when it is a violation of the 

automatic stay.     
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Lorenzen v. Taggart (In re Taggart), --- F.3d ---, (9th Cir. April, 2018)  

 

Issue:   Where a creditor is accused of violating the discharge injunction, is a "good faith 

belief that the discharge injunction does not apply" sufficient to defeat contempt?   

Holding:   Yes.  "[T]he creditor’s good faith belief that the discharge injunction does not 

apply to the creditor’s claim precludes a finding of contempt, even if the creditor’s belief 

is unreasonable." 

Appeal from BAP, Kirscher, Jury, Faris   

Judge Carlos Bea 

The chapter 7 debtor was involved in fairly complex litigation with fellow investors in a 

real estate development project.  Prior to trial in state court, the debtor filed chapter 7.  

After his discharge was entered, the litigation continued.  The state court agreed that the 

debtor was a "necessary party"  and "the parties agreed that no monetary judgment would 

be awarded against" the debtor.  The debtor "did not appear at or participate in the trial."  

After judgment for the creditors, the creditors sought attorneys fees against the debtor 

arguing that he "returned to the fray."  The state court agreed and awarded fees against 

the debtor.  [Note: That ruling was later reversed by the state court of appeals.]  The 

debtor then sought contempt against the creditors in bankruptcy court arguing that the 

creditors violated the discharge injunction.  The bankruptcy court ruled for the creditors 

agreeing that the debtor returned to the fray.  The district court reversed that ruling saying 

that the creditors' "actions were insufficient to constitute a 'return to the fray' and, as a 

result, the discharge injunction barred the attorneys’ fee claim."  The bankruptcy court on 

remand found the creditors in contempt.  They again appealed, this time to the BAP.  It 

reversed saying that "the [c]reditors had a good faith belief that the discharge injunction 

did not apply to their attorneys’ fee claim."  "[I]t concluded that they had not 'knowingly' 

violated the discharge injunction." 

The 9th Circuit affirmed.   

"We have adopted a two-part test for determining the propriety of a contempt 

sanction in the context of a discharge injunction: '[T]o justify sanctions, the 

movant must prove that the creditor (1) knew the discharge injunction was 

applicable and (2) intended the actions which violated the injunction.'” 
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"To satisfy the first prong, knowledge of the applicability of the injunction must 

be proved as a matter of fact and may not be inferred simply because the creditor 

knew of the bankruptcy proceeding.  Additionally, the creditor’s good faith belief 

that the discharge injunction does not apply to the creditor’s claim precludes a 

finding of contempt, even if the creditor’s belief is unreasonable." 

"In this case, as the BAP found, the [c]reditors possessed a good faith belief that 

the discharge injunction did not apply to their claims based on their contention 

that [the debtor] had 'returned to the fray,' and [the debtor] does not contend 

otherwise." 

 


